MAY 0 2 2014

COURT OF AFPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 318966

10 5 A

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

ð

Ł

V.

RYAN ALLEN REID, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Dan B. Johnson Law Office of Dan B. Johnson, P. S. 4407 N. Division Street, Suite 601 Spokane, WA 99207 (509) 483-5311

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1- The Court committed manifest reversible error by allowing Detective Estes to give improper opinion testimony as to the credibility of the witnesses for the State, in comparison to credibility and guilt of the Defendant, in violation of the Defendant's Constitutional right to a fair trial and an impartial jury under article 1, Sect. 21 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and should result in a new trial being granted.
- 2- The Court committed manifest reversible error by allowing the children's mother, Tina Woodraska, to give her personal opinion on the Defendant's guilt in violation of the Defendant's Constitutional right to a fair trial and an impartial jury under article 1, Section 21 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and should result in a new trial being granted.
- 3- Defense counsel failed to object to numerous, inadmissible and prejudicial items of evidence and his failure to do so violated the Defendant's Constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, and/or Due Process under the Fifth and Fourteenth

Amendment, and WASH. CONST. Art. 1, Sect. 3, and should result in a new trial being granted.

4- The cumulative effect of the many errors in this case resulted in denial of a fair trial, and should result in a new trial being granted.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1- During his testimony, Detective Estes repeatedly was allowed to compare and contrast the versions of facts given by the witnesses for the State, with that of the Defendant and indicated that the Defendant's versions raised a "red flag". Was this testimony an unconstitutional comment on the credibility of witnesses and/or the guilt of the Defendant and is this improper testimony sufficient to require a new trial?
- 2- During her testimony, Tina Woodraska, the mother of the two alleged victims, made an explicit statement that she knew "for sure" the Defendant sexually abused the children. Was this testimony an unconstitutional comment on the guilt of the Defendant sufficient to require a new trial?
- 3- Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the foregoing unconstitutional evidence given by Estes and Woodraska; failure to object to child hearsay by Woodraska that did not comply with RCW

9A.44.120, and the Constitutional right to confront witnesses; failure to object to improper 404(b) prior bad acts evidence by Woodraska, and her son, A. E; and failure to object to irrelevant and prejudicial evidence given by Karen Winston, among other items of evidence?

- 4- Did the failure of defense counsel to provide effective assistance of counsel prejudice the Defendant such that the outcome would have been different had he properly represented Defendant, and was his failure to do so a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance and/or Due Process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, and WASH. CONST. Art. 1, Sect 3?
- 5- Was there cumulative error which resulted in a denial of a fair trial, and should a new trial be ordered?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4th, 2012, an Information was filed charging Defendant with three counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree, RCW 9A.44.083. CP 1-2. The Information was amended prior to trial. CP 61-62. At trial, the State called A. R., age 7, to the stand. She attended Willard Elementary and just finished second grade and was questioned regarding whether she could differentiate truth from a lie. RP 135-138.

She denied knowing Ryan Reid, and why she was there that day. RP 138-139. She denied anybody touching her in a place that is private when she was a little girl, or whether she could find him in the courtroom. RP 139.

She also denied remembering talking to Karen Winston and could not remember her 5th birthday, but remembered her 6th as when she went to Chuck E. Cheese. RP 140. The Prosecutor had no further questions and defense counsel had no questions. RP 141.

Karen Winston, testified that she was employed by Partners with Families and Children, as the program director and a forensic child interviewer. RP 141-143.

She claimed to have interviewed approximately five thousand children. RP 144. She indicated that she has a Master's Degree in social work, with an emphasis on child sexual abuse, incest, and drugendangered children, and also participates in continuing education and research and was a member of several organizations. RP 144-145.

On November 30th, 2010, she did a forensic interview of A. R. RP 145-146. The Prosecutor played exhibit 1, the video of the forensic

interview of A. R. for the jury. The Court had previously entered an Order allowing this child hearsay to be admitted. CP 63-65. (Child Hearsay Hearing FFCL).

In summary form, during the videotaped interview, the child claimed that Ryan had touched her pee pee, with his finger. Tr. 13-14 (Exhibit P-1-Transcript of Video interview dated November 30th, 2010, designated "Tr"). She did not remember whose house it took place at. Tr 15. She indicated she was two and didn't talk when it took place. Tr 15. She said he touched her pee pee when she was three, but not four or five. Tr 15. She did not answer the question when asked: "Now, if, now if you were two years old how do you remember that Ryan touched your pee pee?" Tr 15-16. When shown a diagram she claimed Ryan touched her pee pee and butt, on the outside and inside. Tr 17-18. She claimed it felt like an owie. Tr 18. When asked: "Did Ryan say anything to you when he did this?" her response was; "Um he said yeah and I said no. Actually I was a baby so I didn't say no". Tr 18. She denied anybody else touched her like Ryan, or showed their body parts to her. Tr 18-19. She claimed that Ryan touched her pee pee hundreds of times. Tr 19. The following conversation took place:

- " Q Does your mom like Ryan?
 - A No, not at all.
 - Q Why doesn't she like Ryan?

- A Because he's a bad man.
- Q What does he do bad?
- A He touched my peepee.
- Q Okay.
- A Yuck....." Tr 19.

After the video was played, the Prosecutor asked follow up questions, discussing the use of background questions to build rapport with child witnesses. RP 148-149. She indicated that pre-schoolers have less ability to resist suggestibility, but upon questioning regarding A. R., claimed that: "I wouldn't say she was pretty suggestible. I think she was a pretty strong individual, this little girl, and pretty self-assured and had a real sense of what she wanted to say and didn't want to say. You know, unless I actually did some kind of a study it would be hard to say, yes, she's definitely suggestible, or no, she's not at all. But by five kids can resist things being suggested to them if they're not right." RP 149-150.

When asked about the point where A. R. disclosed that Ryan had touched her pee pee with her [sic] finger and touched her butt, and Ms. Winston asked A. R. who told her that, she indicated: "Well, that's sort of hypothesis testing, sort of, where did you find that out, where did that information come from, to encourage a child to tell me, mom told me, my uncle told me, I just knew it or, you know, that kind of thing. RP 150-151.

Exhibits 2, 3, 4, and 5 were introduced as the drawings prepared by the child. RP 151-154.

Ms. Winston did no further follow up with the child. RP 154-155. However, she did testify that she followed up with the child's mother and wanted to make sure she would keep the child away from the Defendant. RP 155. Despite the lack of relevance and the prejudicial nature of this line of questioning, there was no objection by the defense.

The Prosecutor asked follow up questions regarding A. R. and memory when she was ages two and three. Despite the fact that she stated "...I'm not an expert on children's memory, so I really wouldn't be able to expound on that..." she went ahead and did anyway, without objection. RP 156. She was also asked to expound on why the child was unable to testify at trial and was allowed to do so without objection. RP 157.

She also discussed her suggestion to get a medical exam, but indicated that in many cases it doesn't show anything. RP 158.

On cross, Ms. Winston indicated that a medical exam was conducted by Dr. Grubb, and admitted that if the exam had positive findings, that she would have heard about it. RP 161. She could not determine whether the alleged touching was sexual in nature, and admitted that she never discussed diaper changing with A. R., and denied that it occurred to her that A. R. could have been discussing diaper changing. RP 162.

Melly Woodruff stated that she was a CPS supervisor and was present when the forensic interview took place. RP 171-175. On cross, she verified that there was a note dated November 5th, 2010, which confirmed that Ms. Woodraska had called her and told her that she stopped visits between Mr. Ryan Reid and her children, going against a court order. RP 176-177. She was allowed to state that Ms. Woodraska noted that she was suspicious of an incident that happened a couple years ago and that a request was made to involve CPS.

A. E., age fourteen, had just finished 8th grade. He was a lifelong resident of Spokane, and had two sisters, including A. R. RP 184. His Mother is Tina Woodraska, and his former step father was Ryan Reid, the Defendant. RP 185. He indicated that he did not get along very well with the Defendant and claimed that he was choked and "stuff" against the wall and be violent. RP 185.

He claimed that the Defendant got in the shower with him. RP 186. He then went on to claim that the Defendant took his hand and put it on his penis and masturbated him. He described the process. RP 186-187. He claimed that the penis was hard and that it took about ten minutes, but he didn't remember exactly, and that there was skin to skin contact. RP 187. He was in his pajamas, but does not remember if they remained on him at the time. RP 188. He indicated that the touching took place at night, but did not remember if the Defendant was in the bed all night. RP 188.

He thought it took place when he was eight or nine, but claimed he could not remember if it happened more than just the one time. RP 189. He did not remember if the Defendant said anything to him at the time of the alleged incident. RP 190. A.E. claimed that the Defendant told him not to tell anyone. RP 190-191. He indicated that it would have been embarrassing to tell anyone. Years later the police came to talk to him. RP 191.

He claimed that it did not surprise him that the police came to him and that Ryan might tell someone. RP 191. On cross he denied talking to his step father Michael Woodraska or his Mother, prior to talking to the detective. RP 194.

Tina Woodraska testified that she stayed at home with her kids, ages fourteen, seven, and six. RP 198-199. In February, 2008, she claimed that she got the Defendant out of her house by claiming that he had hurt her son, A. E. RP 201. During the June, 2007 to February, 2008, time frame, A. R. was two to three years of age. RP 202.

She described an incident where she came home from work and heard noises coming from A. R.'s bedroom. She tip toed to the door, pushed it open and claimed that the Defendant bounced up and she saw A.

R. with the bottom half of her completely naked. She screamed "What are you doing?" RP 202. She indicated that his face was "down in her area", her private parts, and that his face was approximately 10 inches to a foot away and saw his hand was in that area but she also stated: "…I couldn't really tell exactly where he was touching…" RP 203.

She claimed that the Defendant appeared to be startled. RP 203. After she screamed, What are you doing, he got red in the face and said, I was checking an owie. He yelled, I was checking an owie, bit his tongue, shook his head and walked, stormed out the door. RP 204.

At that time, A. R. was still on the bed and she dressed her. She claimed that A. R. did not wear diapers when she was two during the daytime. She claimed that A. R. did not need changing, nor was there anything to indicate an accident. RP 204-205. A. R. seemed upset according to her, but was not crying. She did not remember what she did after getting A. R. dressed. RP 205. She claimed to have turned the matter in to CPS, but had never previously seen the Defendant reacting with A. R. that way. RP 206.

At that age, A. R. was capable of talking but made no comment, or complaint of concerns, and Ms. Woodraska did not ask her. She then claimed that later on A. R. vaguely made comments to her about the Defendant having hurt her in her private parts. RP 207-208. Despite the fact that the testimony involved hearsay, there was no objection by the defense. There had been no prior determination as to the admissibility of this hearsay statement, and the defense attorney failed to object.

Karen Winston told her there wasn't much to the interview, and that Detective Estes would look into it. RP 208-209. She then responded to a question as to an inference that she wanted to restrict visitation with the Defendant and stated: "Well, I don't want him to hurt them. I don't want them—I mean, he's physically abusive. And as far as I know, he sexually abused them. I know for sure. I don't want them to get hurt. And that's the only reason I would ask that he just not hurt them anymore." Despite the fact that she was offering an opinion on the Defendant's guilt, there was no objection by defense counsel. RP 209.

She never observed any kind of sexual contact between A. E. and the Defendant, nor did her son ever disclose any abuse to her. She did not learn about the allegation until later on when Detective Estes told her. RP 210-211. She claimed that it was not common for A. E. to sleep in the same bed as the Defendant, nor would he lay in bed with him. RP 212.

She admitted that in the final Parenting Plan, she would not get what she initially wanted and agreed that the Defendant's proposed Parenting Plan called for a joint custody arrangement with visits on alternate holidays. RP 221. She also previously sought an anti-

harrasment order in 2005, against the Defendant. RP 225-226. She could not recall telling Detective Estes that she found it hard to believe her daughter at five years of age could recall a touching incident when she was two, but admitted she could have. RP 231-232.

She told Detective Estes that the Defendant was fully clothed when she walked in as described previously, and that she did not know what to believe. RP 231. Ms. Woodraska admitted that in November, 2012, she may have told Melly Woodruff (CPS) that she was in contempt for not following the final Parenting Plan. RP 233-234.

She claimed that her child stopped wearing diapers at about age two, but later was uncertain. RP 236-237. She stated that she has discussed the fact with A. R. that the Defendant was her father, but denied ever telling A. R. that Defendant was a bad man, or that Defendant was a bad man because he touched her pee pee, and denied talking with A. R. about what she was going to talk about with Karen Winston, during the forensic interview. RP 238-239.

When asked about talking with her son, A. E., she indicated that she did not hear anything from his mouth, but later she asked if there was anything at all that was inappropriate between you and Ryan, and her son said: "no, not at all." RP 239-240.

Eric O'Leary, was a Spokane Transit bus driver and Tina Woodraska is his biological sister. RP 245. He claimed that in the years 2007 and 2008 that he would frequently go to his sister's home on North Stevens, sometimes without calling and claimed he had a key, or would usually just walk in the door. RP 245. He testified that there was an occasion during that time period where he walked in unannounced and felt like he caught the Defendant off guard. He stated that he knocked on the door, there was no answer and he went in through the front door. There was no one in the kitchen area, then heard something down the hallway in a bedroom. He opened the door and claims that he saw Ryan kneeling or standing over the baby (A. R.). Ryan claimed that he was changing the diaper, but the witness did not see any diapers or other similar items. RP 246-247. He testified that A. R. was on the floor, with the Defendant's back to the door. He did not see exactly what the Defendant was doing with his hands and indicated that the Defendant did not say "hi" but just went into explanations. RP 247-248.

The first thing out of the Defendant's mouth was that he was just changing the diaper, and the witness thought that he wasn't making eye contact with him. He thought that it was odd that A. R. was unclothed but she had a diaper on. He could not say whether the diaper was partially off or on or whatever, due to the blockage to his vision. RP 249. He indicated that he did not see any powder or wipes. After he walked in to the room, he saw the Defendant fasten the diaper and just walked out of the room. He thought that A. R. was about two years old. He never saw any other similar activity that caused him concern. RP 249.

On cross he recalled telling Detective Estes that he thought the incident had occurred in the summer of 2008, but did not recall the exact time. He admitted that A. R. would have been three years old and that she was still wearing diapers. RP 251. He thought that A. R. acted normally at the time of the incident. RP 251.

He admitted that when the alleged incident took place that A. R. did not run to him, or hide or do anything that was out of the ordinary, but still thought it was weird. RP 253-254. On re-direct, he thought that the alleged incident took place in the summer of 2007. RP 254.

Mark Ferguson, of the Spokane Police Department, stated that on January 21st, 2011, he conducted a voluntary "specialized" interview with the Defendant. RP 256-257. Detectives Estes and Lebsock were listening in. RP 258. He indicated that he gave *Miranda* warnings and the Defendant expressed no confusion or concern about his rights and voluntarily participated in the interview. RP 258. The purpose of the interview was to clarify some issues where Mr. Reid was accused of sexual activity with A. R. RP 259. He informed the Defendant of the

reason for the interview, but the Defendant then talked about an event with A. E. that he had not ever told anybody else about. A. E. was the Defendant's step son. RP 260.

The Defendant described an evening where A. E's mother had been angry and called her son, a "homo" and a "fag". A. E. was upset and Defendant went to console him and discuss what a "homo" was. The Defendant stated that he tried to explain it as best he could, and that A. E. requested that the Defendant spend the night with him, which he agreed to do. RP 261. The Defendant told the witness that he woke up with an erection, with A. E. playing with his erect penis, demonstrating with his hand, with his index finger out, as if A. E. was bouncing his finger across the Defendant's penis and said A. E. was giggling at the time. RP 262. His reaction was to immediately pull his body away as soon as he realized what was going on and stated that A. E. was nine years old at the time. RP 262. Mr. Ferguson said that the disclosure surprised him since it was not information that he was looking for at that interview. RP 262.

The Defendant denied that he had any sexual contact with his daughter and that he believed that Tina was making the story up and that he had been honest when talking with the detectives. The Defendant reiterated that he was changing a diaper on her bed. RP 263.

On cross, Mr. Ferguson indicated that the Defendant was "nervous, but cooperative?" He stated that he had explained the purpose of the interview to the Defendant, and that after that discussion, the Defendant divulged or volunteered information about A. E. RP 267. He admitted that it was a reasonable assumption that the Defendant was forthcoming to avoid later concerns. RP 268. On re-direct, he stated that suspects sometimes disclose matters because they think the police know more than they really do. RP 268-269.

Paul Lebsock, a City of Spokane Detective, with 20 years on the force, stated that he was on the Special Victim's Unit in 2011, and assisted Detective Estes and witnessed two in-person interviews of the Defendant by Detective Estes, January 19th, 2011, and February 11th, 2011. RP 271-273. He also overheard the interview by Corporal Ferguson. RP 273. He provided general information regarding the interviews. RP 274-281.

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