I.

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

ARGUMENT 

A. DETECTIVE ESTES DID NOT TESTIFY IN THE FORM 

OF AN IMPROPER OPINION. 

 

 The single item underpinning the majority of the defendant’s arguments 

(including later ineffective assistance of counsel arguments) is the defendant’s 

assertions regarding what constitutes improper opinion testimony. Reduced to its 

essence, the defendant claims that any testimony that mentions inconsistencies 

between the defendant’s statements and other witness’ testimony is improper. The 
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State takes the position that mentioning inconsistencies in the context of why the 

witness took particular actions, without more, does not constitute improper 

opinion testimony. Nearly all of the instances of alleged opinion testimony 

involving Detective Estes are no more than the Detective reporting that the 

defendant’s statements did not “square” with the statements of other witnesses on 

the same issue.  

There were no objections to the sections of Det. Estes’ testimony 

contested by the defendant. Since the defendant did not object to the issues he 

now attempts to raise on appeal, he has waived any arguments pertaining to  

Det. Estes’ testimony. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 126, 292 P.3d 715 (2012); 

RAP 2.5(a).  

“But a party can raise an error for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest 

error affecting a constitutional right.” State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926,  

155 P.3d 125 (2007); RAP 2.5(a)(3). “The defendant must show the constitutional 

error actually affected [his] rights at trial, thereby demonstrating the actual 

prejudice that makes an error “manifest” and allows review.” Kirkman,  

159 Wn.2d at 926-27. “Actual prejudice, as it applies to opinion testimony, is 

only shown when the statement was an “‘explicit or almost explicit’ opinion on 

the defendant’s guilt or the victim’s veracity.” State v. King, 167 Wn.2d 324, 332, 

219 P.3d 642 (2009) (quoting Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 936).  
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The defendant cannot reasonably argue that Det. Estes gave testimony in 

the form of an opinion on the defendant’s guilt or the victim’s veracity. There is 

nothing in the record that approaches the level required by King, supra. 

In determining whether witness statements are impermissible opinion 

testimony, the court will consider the circumstances of the case, including the 

following factors: (1) the type of witness involved, (2) the specific nature of the 

testimony, (3) the nature of the charges, (4) the type of defense, and (5) the  

other evidence before the trier of fact. State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577,  

183 P.3d 267 (2008). 

“Important to the determination of whether opinion testimony prejudices 

the defendant is whether the jury was properly instructed.” Montgomery, supra at 

595. The jury in this case was instructed that they were the sole judges of 

credibility. CP 71-73, RP 384. There was no written jury inquiry or other 

evidence that the jury was unfairly influenced, and the court should presume the 

jury followed the court's instructions absent evidence to the contrary.  

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 928. 

The defendant attaches great significance to the words, “red flag.” Det. 

Estes uses the terms “flag” or “red flag” in the same sense as would anyone else. 

The State maintains that Det. Estes used “flag” or “red flag” as a shorthand that 

would be understood by most people as: the events currently being given to the 

Detective were inconsistent with what he had been told by other witnesses. This 
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caused Detective Estes to make further inquiries in an attempt to reconcile all the 

data he had received. Using the term “red flag” only means that the Detective was 

alerted to some aspect of the versions of events that did not seem to make sense. 

The term does not indicate that one side or the other is more credible.  

The key fact overlooked by the defendant is that none of the detective’s 

comments made any claim as to which sets of statements were believable and 

which were not. Simply pointing out that witness A’s statements were 

inconsistent with witness B’s statements says nothing about which version (if 

either) was correct. The detective only stated that he received statements from the 

witnesses that were different than those given by the defendant. The testimony of 

Detective Estes contained no opinions, improper or otherwise. In the body of his 

testimony, Det. Estes never used the terms “I think” or any language approaching 

a personal opinion. The detective was never asked for a personal opinion. Det. 

Estes’ testimony contained no direct opinion on the defendant’s guilt or on the 

credibility of a witness.  

The testimony of Det. Estes presented the versions of the facts as told by 

the witnesses. The Detective described what he did during the investigation. 

Mentioning that he found inconsistencies in the statements was not an opinion at 

all. The Detective examined all the different stories he obtained from witnesses, 

and mentioned the obvious: the defendant’s versions of events did not always 

match the versions supplied by other witnesses.  
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The defendant’s continued assertions that Det. Estes repeatedly violated 

hearsay rules are without merit. The section contested by the defendant as being a 

series of hearsay violations is actually a series of statements by the defendant to 

the detective. RP 298-299. The defendant’s argument does not acknowledge that 

the statements made to the detective were not hearsay. The defendant’s statements 

were those of a “party opponent.” ER 801(d)(2). The statements of a party 

opponent are not classified as hearsay. ER 801(d)(2). The defendant could not 

object to the admission of his own statements to Det. Estes. Also, it appears from 

the record that the State offered the defendant’s statements only to show that the 

defendant’s version of events were quite different than those given by other 

witnesses. The statements do not appear to have been offered to prove the truth of 

the matters asserted. The defendant’s statements related by Det. Estes were not 

hearsay and therefore not objectionable.  

As a side note, the defendant’s claim that the prosecutor “…felt a need to 

correct the officer….” is very wide of any possible “mark” and a very strained 

interpretation of the actual record. The prosecutor stated: “… and I want to be 

clear on what my question means. I’m sure not asking you to offer an opinion as 

to whether somebody is telling the truth or not, okay?” Brf. of App. 29; RP 299. If 

anything, the prosecutor was alerting the detective that the questioning the 

prosecutor intended to pursue might cause an inadvertent improper response by 
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the detective. The statement was a cautionary statement by the prosecutor, 

nothing more. 

 

B. MS. WOODRASKA’S COMMENT WAS HARMLESS 

ERROR.  

 

The defendant claims Ms. Woodraska gave an opinion on the guilt of the 

defendant. The prosecutor asked Ms. Woodraska why she might not want the 

defendant to have visitation rights. Ms. Woodraska replied: 

Well, I don’t want to hurt them. I don’t want them – I mean, he’s 

physically abusive. And as far as I know, he sexually abused them. 

I know for sure. I don’t want them to get hurt. A that’s the only 

reason I would ask that he just not hurt them anymore. 

 

RP 209. 

There was no defense objection to this testimony at trial. The defendant 

now complains that his trial counsel should have objected to this testimony. What 

the defendant does not mention is that his defense counsel undertook a withering 

cross-examination of Ms. Woodraska. RP 213-241. Throughout the trial, defense 

counsel made numerous remarks of the sort found at RP 281-82. 

 At this point in the trial, much of the “lay” testimony had already been 

given. It should have come as no surprise to any juror that Ms. Woodraska would 

make the statements she did; after all, she is the mother of both victims involved 

in this case. The fact that she might want to protect her children, and the fact that 

she is sure of something should be no surprise. 
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What Ms. Woodraska was saying is not exactly clear. She testified that “I 

know for sure.” RP 209. The record does not say what she knows for sure. Does 

she know “for sure” that the defendant physically abused her children, which is 

not part of the charges, or does she know “for sure” that the defendant sexually 

abused “them”? Ms. Woodraska stated that “as far as I know, he sexually abused 

‘them’.” This is not as positive a statement as, “I know for sure.”  

 Compared to the quantity and nature of the cross-examination of Ms. 

Woodraska, the jury could hardly have been influenced by the contested 

statements.  

 If a court determines the claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it 

may still be subject to harmless error analysis. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 

322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 

251 (1992). 

 The State previously outlined the test for an improper opinion from  

State v. Montgomery, supra. If the court determines that an error of constitutional 

import was committed, then, and only then, the court undertakes a harmless error 

analysis. City of Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 585, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)).  

 Washington has adopted the “overwhelming untainted evidence” approach 

to the harmless error analysis. The Court in State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412,  

426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct. 1208,  

89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986) held:  
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Under the ‘overwhelming untainted evidence’ test, the appellate 

court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the 

untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to 

a finding of guilt. Id. A finding of harmless error requires proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have 

reached the same result in the absence of the error. 

 

Id. at 425. 

 Ms. Woodraska’s statement could arguably have been an improper 

opinion on the guilt of the defendant. However, her statement was apparently not 

egregious enough -- in the flow of testimony, that either the trial court or defense 

counsel raised an issue.  

 If this court decides that the comment was a violation of the defendant’s 

trial rights, then this court looks to the remainder of the evidence to determine the 

weight of the untainted evidence and decide if the untainted evidence is so 

overwhelming that the jury would have reached the same result without the error.  

 The comment in question does not say where, when or which child Ms. 

Woodraska believes was sexually assaulted by the defendant. This comment, 

taken in the balance of the mass of other testimony is undoubtedly harmless.  

 

C. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HE 

RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

 

 The defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for not objecting to 

certain parts of Detective Estes and Tina Woodraska’s testimony. The net effect 

of this argument is to “double down” on the errors the defendant claimed in the 
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first section because the errors claimed in the first part of defendant’s appeal were 

raised for the first time. The direct issues raised by the defendant on appeal were 

improper as the State explained earlier. 

 The State’s response to the argument of ineffective assistance of counsel is 

both obvious and short: The defense counsel did not object at trial because there 

was nothing to which defense counsel could object. Failure to object to admissible 

evidence does not establish ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Alvarado,  

89 Wn. App. 543, 553, 949 P.2d 831 (1998). 

 As argued in the first section of this brief, since the defendant did not 

object to Det. Estes’ testimony, the defendant cannot raise his initial arguments 

for the first time on appeal. Thus, the defendant’s “fallback” position becomes the 

primary argument. If this court agrees with the State regarding the inability of the 

defendant to raise his initial issues for the first time on appeal, the case “defaults” 

to the question of whether the defendant received ineffective assistance of 

counsel. In some sense, the argument is the same as the initial defense argument: 

did the detective give improper opinion testimony? However, the analysis of that 

question is now one step removed: the defendant must show that his counsel was 

ineffective because defense counsel did not object to improper opinion testimony. 

The defendant must further show that the defense counsel would have 

(hypothetically) succeeded with “improper opinion” arguments before the trial 

court.  
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To establish deficient performance or prejudice, the defendant must first 

show that if his counsel had objected to the disputed testimony, the  

objections would likely have been successful. State v. Gerdts, 136 Wn. App. 720, 

150 P.3d 627 (2007). When deciding whether hypothetical objections would have 

been successful, the following should be noted. “The admission of relevant 

evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed 

absent a manifest abuse of that discretion.” State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 702, 

718 P.2d 407 (1986). “…[T]he trial court may exclude relevant evidence if its 

probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 

Such determinations are left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” Id. at 703. 

 The trial judge was overseeing the admission of evidence. The defendant 

seems to believe, and wants to convince this court, that trial judges will just sit 

through a trial and will do nothing without an objection. The defendant has not 

presented authority to support this idea. This means that the trial court had already 

“passed” on issues raised by the defendant on appeal. This means the likelihood 

of success with hypothetical objections would have been small.  

Defense counsel is strongly presumed to be effective. State v. McDonald, 

138 Wn.2d 680, 696, 981 P.2d 443 (1999). “The burden is on a defendant  

alleging ineffective assistance of counsel to show deficient representation based 

on the record established in the proceedings below.” State v. McFarland,  

127 Wn.2d at 335. 
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To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet a 

two-pronged test. The defendant must show (1) that counsel's performance fell 

below an objective standard of performance, and (2) that the ineffective 

performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 

687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). In examining the first prong of the 

test, the court makes reference to “an objective standard of reasonableness based 

on consideration of all of the circumstances.” State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 

226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Appellate review of counsel's performance is highly 

deferential and there is a strong presumption that the performance was reasonable. 

State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 808, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). In order to prevail 

on the second prong of the test, the defendant must show that, “but for the 

ineffective assistance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would 

have been different.” Id. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to 

undermine confidence in the outcome. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The  

two prongs are independent and a failure to show either of the two prongs 

terminates review of the other. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226 (citing Strickland,  

466 U.S. at 687). “If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the 

ground of lack of sufficient prejudice . . . that course should be followed.” 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697. 

In order to prevail on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel, the 

defendant must show that the detective gave improper opinions as to the versions 



 

21 

of events told by the defendant to the detective. No such opinions appear in the 

record. The defendant attempts to turn the “red flag” comments into personal 

opinions, but this approach has no merit. 

 From a practical trial standpoint, the “cat was already out of the bag” by 

way of Karen Winston’s testimony regarding her interview with the victim. 

Objecting to this testimony could easily have offended the jury and made it 

appear to the jurors that trial defense counsel was being picayune and 

obstructionist. It cannot be said that trial defense counsel was not engaged in 

strategy when he did not object to this testimony. 

If counsel is engaged in strategy, there is no error. In re Personal Restraint 

of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 888-89, 828 P.2d 1086 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 

689), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 958 (1992). 

 The defendant claims that Karen Winston’s testimony regarding a follow-

up interview with the victim’s mother, was lacking in relevance and prejudicial in 

nature. The defendant believes that trial defense counsel should have objected to 

this line of testimony. Brf. of App. 42-44.  

The defendant argues that his trial counsel should have objected to the 

victim’s testimony because it was a violation of ER 404(b). Brf. of App. 45. As

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